IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

JUN 20 1995

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 85,909 1ST DCA CASE NO. 93-2586

JEFFREY ELY ROBERTS,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0325791

DANIEL A. DAVID ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0650412

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Article V. Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

The supreme court . . . [m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal . . . that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

The conflict here between the decision of the First District, the Second District in <u>Augsberger v. State</u>, 20 FLW D1227 (Fla. 2d DCA May 19, 1995), and this Court in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 449 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 1984), <u>Watts v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 198 (Fla. 1992), and <u>Hardwick v. State</u>, 521 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 1988) on the same point of law, is apparent within the four corners of the First District's decision in this case. Jurisdiction of this Court thus does lie. <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986); Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 135 (Fla. 1980).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The relevant facts, per Reaves v. State, supra, are those set out within the four corners of the majority opinion of the First District in this case. The relevant jurisdictional facts pursuant to Reaves and Fla. R. App. P. 9.120(d) are to be found at 20 FLW D1207-1208:

Three separate judges conducted three separate <u>Faretta</u>¹ hearings in this case (Id. at 1207). At the first, on May 14, 1993, before Judge #1, with the jury present, Appellant announced, "I want to fire my attorney." (Id.) The trial court denied appellant's request to act as co-counsel, appellant then asked to represent himself, and the "trial court then conducted a thorough [Faretta] hearing." (Id.). The trial court concluded appellant was able to, and could represent himself, a mistrial was declared to give Appellant time to prepare his defense, and the assistant public defender was discharged (Id.).

On June 22, 1993, before Judge #2, a second <u>Faretta</u> hearing was had. The second Judge "concluded that Appellant lacked the requisite knowledge for self-representation. Over Appellant's objection, his former counsel was reappointed." (Id.).

On June 25, 1993, before Judge #3, after Appellant again announced his desire for self-representation, a third <u>Faretta</u> inquiry was had, and "the trial court found that Appellant could

¹ Faretta v. California, 422 US 806, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d
562 (1975).

represent himself without trial counsel's assistance. Jury selection was set for three weeks later." (Id.).

The First District's opinion further states:

On July 12, 1993, jury selection commenced with the announcement by Judge #3 to the venire that Appellant had elected to represent himself and had been found competent to do so. No offer of counsel was made at this proceeding, and the jury was chosen without objection by Appellant.

At the onset of trial on July 14, 1993, same judge told the jury that Appellant would be "representing himself." After the prosecutor made an opening statement, Appellant asked, "I'd also like to know where my co-counsel is --Susan." Susan is his former defense attorney's The trial judge replied, "I don't think you've got, really, a co-counsel in this case." The court did not renew the offer of counsel, and Appellant continued represent himself. Testimony was presented, closing statements were made, and the jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged.

At the beginning of the actual trial, when Appellant affirmatively questioned his attorney's whereabouts -- "I'd also like to know where my co-counsel is --Susan"-this statement should have signalled to the trial court, at a minimum, that Appellant was confused as to whether he was entitled to counsel and whether he was represented by counsel at that time. trial court should have stopped proceedings at that point and conducted a Faretta inquiry.

(Id.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the First District expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of the Second District and this Court in holding that an ambiguous reference to appellant's "co-counsel" mandated a Faretta hearing -which in this case, would have been a fourth such hearing- and that failure of the trial judge to conduct a fourth Faretta hearing constituted reversible error. This court and the Second District hold that for a Faretta hearing to be required, the defendant must unequivocally request self-representation.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT OR ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ON THE SAME POINT OF LAW.

The decision of the First District, holding that on these facts, namely, an inquiry by Appellant consisting of, "I'd also like to know where my co-counsel is -Susan" mandates yet another Faretta hearing is contrary to the decision of the Second District in Augsberber v. State, 20 FLW D1227 (Fla. 2d DCA May 19, 1995) and this Court in Jones v. State, 449 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 1984).

In Augsberger, the Second District found no reversible error when, just prior to jury selection, Augsberger complained of his court appointed attorney and requested an opportunity to hire his The trial court denied the motion, finding the own lawyer. appointed lawyer competent, and that Augsberger had no funds to obtain a private lawyer. The case proceeded to trial and Augsberger was convicted. 20 FLW D1227. The Second District held, ". . . we conclude that the trial court's failure to advise appellant of his right to self-representation does not mandate reversal. Appellant never made an unequivocal request for self representation, which is the essential prerequisite for a Faretta inquiry." Id. at 1228.

The Second District cited to this Court's decision in <u>Watts</u>
v. State, 593 So. 2d 198, 203 (Fla. 1992), wherein this Court set

out the operative facts and the law controlling those facts as follows:

During the jury selection, Watts informed the trial court that he was dissatisfied with his attorneys because they allegedly had not been to see him in the jail. A short time later, Watts requested that another attorney be appointed. . . . because there was no unequivocal request for self-representation, Watts was not entitled to an inquiry on the subject of self-representation under Faretta.

The ruling of the First District in this case also conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 449 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 1984), wherein this court stated in a case like here where appellant affirmatively fires his court-appointed lawyer:

Defendant now urges that the trial court failed to renew the offer of counsel at the sentencing stage and that this constitutes reversible error. We disagree, as this would exalt form out substance.

(<u>Id.</u> at 258) . . .

We consider it implicit in <u>Faretta</u> that the right to appointed counsel, like the obverse right to self-representation, is not a license to abuse the dignity of the court or to frustrate orderly proceedings, and a defendant may not manipulate the proceedings by willy-nilly leaping back and forth between choices.

(Id. at 259)

The decision of the First District below, on the facts apparent within the body of its opinion, holds as a matter of law that another <u>Faretta</u> hearing -in this case, a <u>fourth</u>- is mandated based on the statement, "I'd also like to know where my co-

counsel is --Susan", and that failure to do so constitutes reversible error. <u>Hardwick v. State</u>, 521 So. 2d 1071, 1074 (Fla. 1988): "We note that the courts have long required that a request for self-representation be stated unequivocally."

The First District's result, in contravention of <u>Jones</u>, does exalt form over substance. It also abuses the dignity of the court and frustrates orderly proceedings. At the trial level, as noted in the First District's opinion, appellant went so far as to specifically object in his own behalf when Judge #2 told him he could not represent himself and that he <u>must</u> be represented by the public defender. The First District's approach would mandate the willy-nilly leaping back and forth between <u>pro se</u> and public defender representation at trial proscribed by <u>Jones</u>.

It is clear in this case that appellant got exactly what he wanted at trial -the opportunity to represent himself. The First District's rationale results in abuse of the dignity of the judicial process at two levels: circuit and district. Appellant here got exactly what he unequivocally requested -the right to self-representation. Based on his off-hand remark regarding cocounsel, the First District holds that the trial court committed reversible error in not conducting a <u>fourth Faretta</u> hearing. The result is that the case must go back to the circuit court for retrial.

Thus, judicial labors have been expended in two courts, a retrial must be had, and all over a case where appellant got exactly and precisely what he forcefully fought for, and objected

to when he could not have what he wanted, namely the right to represent himself.

CONCLUSION

The decision of the First District expressly and directly decisions of the Second District conflicts with the Augsberger, this Court in Jones, Watts, and Hardwick, in holding that an ambiguous inquiry of "where is my co-counsel" 2 is an self-representation that unequivocal request for foundational threshold to trigger a Faretta inquiry. The First willy-nilly District's decision wouldalso mandate the leapfrogging between pro se and public defender representation at trial, in contravention of Jones.

Express and direct conflict between the First District's decision and the above cited authorities on the same points of law is evident within the body of the opinion. Thus, jurisdiction of this court does lie, and this court should accept jurisdiction so as to resolve this conflict.

A defendant has no right to act as co-counsel with his attorney. Smith v. State, 44 So. 2d 542, 547 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Such is permissible, it is not constitutionally required. Jones, supra, 449 So. 2d at 258.