IN THE SUPREME COURT OF (

:

:

:

:

:

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 85,909

JEFFREY ELY ROBERTS,

Respondent. :

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CARL S. MCGINNES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 230502 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

JUN 80 1995

SID J. WHITE

FILED

CLERK, SUPPLENDCOORT Deputy Clerk

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Jeffrey Ely Roberts was the defendant in the trial court and appellant before the District Court of Appeal, First District. He will be referred to in this brief as "respondent," "defendant," or by his proper name.

Reference to petitioner's jurisdictional brief will be by use of the symbol "PB" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

Filed with this brief is an appendix containing a copy of the decision on which review is sought, <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D1207 (Fla. 1st DCA May 18, 1995). Reference to the appendix will be by use of the symbol "A" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

- 1 -

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

As the facts of the case respondent, as does petitioner (PB-2-3), relies upon the facts contained in the majority opinion in <u>Roberts v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. It should be noted that the specially concurring opinion filed by Judge Van Nortwick does not contain any <u>fact</u> not recited in the majority opinion.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent recognizes that the rationale used by the majority in <u>Roberts</u> is incorrect in some respects. However, the actual <u>result</u> in <u>Roberts</u> is in line with controlling case law from this Court and the rules of procedure. The cases relied upon by petitioner as a basis for "conflict" jurisdiction do not in reality conflict with <u>Roberts</u> as they each have substantially different controlling facts than <u>Roberts</u>.

IV. ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT IN <u>ROBERTS V. STATE</u>, 20 FLA. L. WEEKLY D1207 (FLA. 1ST DCA MAY 18, 1995) DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW WITH <u>AUGSBERGER V. STATE</u>, 20 FLA. L. WEEKLY D1227 (FLA. 2ND DCA MAY 19, 1995); <u>WATTS V. STATE</u>, 593 SO.2D 198 (FLA. 1992); <u>JONES V. STATE</u>, 449 SO.2D 253 (FLA. 1984); OR, <u>HARDWICK V. STATE</u>, 521 SO. 1071 (FLA. 1988).

Petitioner argues that the decision in the instant case, Roberts, expressly and directly "conflicts" on the same question of law with <u>Augsberger</u>, <u>Watts</u>, <u>Jones</u>, and <u>Hardwick</u>, <u>supra</u>, thereby conferring jurisdiction in the Court under Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Constitution of the State of Florida (PB-5-8). Respondent disagrees.

"Conflict" jurisdiction exists where the appellate court applies a rule of law to produce a different result in a case involving substantially the same controlling facts as a case or cases previously decided by this Court or by another district court of appeal. <u>See Nielsen v. City of Sarasota</u>, 117 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1960). In the instant case, appellant argues that <u>Roberts</u> does not contain substantially the same controlling facts as <u>Augsberger, Watts, Jones</u>, and <u>Hardwick</u>, <u>supra</u>.

In <u>Augsberger</u>, the defendant expressed dissatisfaction with counsel and requested an opportunity to hire private counsel. When asked, the defendant could not point to any specific act or omission on the part of counsel. The trial court did not think the defendant had the money to hire counsel. The case proceeded to trial with appointed counsel.

- 4 -

On appeal, the second district held that the trial court did not err in not conducting a hearing pursuant to <u>Faretta v.</u> <u>California</u>, 422 U.S. 806 (1975). The reason was because the defendant never made an unequivocal request for selfrepresentation.

Similarly, in <u>Watts</u>, the defendant requested other counsel and complained about his lawyer, but at no time did he ever ask to represent himself. This Court ruled that, absent an unequivocal request for self-representation, there is not a requirement to conduct a <u>Faretta</u> hearing.

The case here is different from <u>Augsberger</u> and <u>Watts</u>. In the instant case, it is not contested that on, at least three occasions, the defendant here <u>did</u> make <u>unequivocal</u> requests for self-representation, namely, on May 15, June 22, and June 25, 1993 (A-1). The result of these three unequivocal requests was a ruling that the defendant would be allowed to represent himself at trial.

On the day of trial, the defendant questioned where his "co-counsel" Susan was, Susan being the lawyer the defendant had effectively fired by June 25, 1993. Under these facts, the district court held that the trial court erred in simply not making <u>any</u> inquiry whatsoever to determine if appellant wanted to represent himself, or be represented by Susan.

<u>Hardwick</u> is a case where there was not an unequivocal request for self-representation, but where the trial court went ahead and did conduct a full <u>Faretta</u> inquiry. Under these

- 5 -

facts, this Court on appeal held that the trial court did not err in refusing to dismiss court-appointed counsel, appoint the defendant as co-counsel, or permit Hardwick to represent himself. The Court stressed that the trial court "made the proper inquiry." 521 So.2d at 1074.

In this case, respondent made three unequivocal requests for self-representation, which were eventually granted. On the day of trial, however, he made statements evidencing confusion over whether he was representing himself or had co-counsel. The district court in this case in effect held it was error for the trial court to do nothing, in light of the defendant's obvious confusion. <u>Hardwick</u> does not conflict with this case since, in <u>Hardwick</u>, the trial court actually did what the district court in this case faulted the trial court for not doing, namely, conducting an inquiry into the question of counsel.

Lastly, this case does not conflict with Jones. In Jones, the court was "...faced with an obstreperous defendant who might well attempt to disrupt and obstruct the trial proceedings." 449 So.2d at 257. After the subject of counsel was repeatedly raised, the trial court ultimately allowed the defendant to represent himself. On the second day of trial, however, the defendant requested specific counsel.

On appeal, this Court held that the trial court conducted a proper inquiry in allowing the defendant to represent himself, and did not abuse its discretion in not appointing counsel in the midst of trial. The Court observed that

- 6 -

"...neither the exercise of the right of self-representation nor to appointed counsel may by used as a device to abuse the dignity of the court or to frustrate orderly proceedings." 449 So.2d at 253.

The instant case does not involve an obstreperous defendant who attempted to disrupt the orderly processes of the court. The state makes much of the district court's holding calling for a fourth <u>Faretta</u> hearing (PB-7).

Hearing #1 was clearly "caused" by the defendant in that he asked to represent himself, which request was granted. Hearings #2 and #3 were not. Hearing #2 resulted from the fact that the trial judge disagreed with the ruling made by the another trial judge. Hearing #3 occurred in an effort to restore the status quo fashioned by the first trial judge.

And hearing #4 could have easily been accomplished by simply asking the defendant, in light of his statements regarding Susan, if he wished to represent himself or have Susan represent him. If he then said he wished to represent himself, the existence of the previously held hearings would be adequate.

The instant case does not conflict with <u>Jones</u> because this case and <u>Jones</u> have different controlling facts.

For the reasons set forth above, respondent argues that <u>Roberts</u> does not conflict with <u>Jones</u>, <u>Hardwick</u>, <u>Watts</u>, or <u>Augsberger</u>. The fact that there does not appear to be "conflict" jurisdiction does not mean that respondent has no

- 7 -

quarrel with the rationale of the majority opinion in Roberts.

In other words, respondent does not necessarily agree with the <u>rationale</u> used by the majority in the district court, but wholeheartedly argues that the district court reached the correct <u>result</u>.

As noted in the majority opinion, the defendant made unequivocal requests to represent himself on at least three occasions, namely, May 14, June 22, and June 25, 1993. The trial court eventually ruled that respondent would be allowed to represent himself. Yet, when he appeared for jury selection on July 12, 1993, and again when he appeared for trial on July 14, 1993, the trial court did not renew an offer of counsel.

The issue is, given the fact that respondent was allowed to waive counsel, was the trial court under any obligation to renew an offer of counsel at jury selection, and at trial? The answer is clearly "yes" for, as noted in Judge Van Nortwick's concurring opinion, <u>Traylor v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1992) holds that even if counsel is waived, an offer of counsel must be renewed at each subsequent stage at which the defendant appears without counsel. Even in the absence of <u>Traylor</u>, the judge was required to renew the offer of counsel at both jury selection and trial pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.111(d) (5), which provides:

> (5) If a waiver [of counsel] is accepted at any stage of the proceedings, the offer of assistance of counsel shall be renewed by the court at each subsequent stage of the proceedings at which the defendant appears without counsel.

> > - 8 -

The problem with the rationale used by the majority is that it places the burden on a defendant who has waived counsel to initiate further inquiry into counsel. In other words, had respondent not made his statements at trial regarding Susan, the majority in <u>Roberts</u> would presumably have affirmed rather than reversed respondent's case, and what is now Judge Van Nortwick's concurring opinion would be a dissent.

It is wrong to place the burden on the accused when <u>Traylor</u> and Rule 3.111(d)(5) clearly places the burden of renewing offers of counsel squarely upon the trial court judge. The rationale of the majority opinion transforms the "bright line" rule of <u>Traylor</u> and Rule 3.111(d)(5) to a case-by-case determination, in an area of the law where only bright line rules will adequately protect the constitutional rights of citizens charged with crime.

Even though the rationale of <u>Roberts</u> is wrong, the <u>result</u> in the case is a correct one. In any event, <u>Roberts</u> certainly does not conflict with <u>Augsberger</u>, <u>Watts</u>, <u>Hardwick</u>, or <u>Jones</u>, <u>supra</u>.

- 9 -

V. CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing analysis and authorities,

respondent argues he has established that the Court is without jurisdiction. Respondent requests the Court to issue an order declining the accept jurisdiction.